International Dairy Journal 20 (2010) 811-821



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# International Dairy Journal



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/idairyj

# Review

# Compositional, technological and nutritional aspects of dromedary camel milk

# Omar A. Al haj, Hamad A. Al Kanhal\*

Department of Food Science & Nutrition, College of Food and Agricultural Sciences, King Saud University, P.O. Box 2460, Riyadh 11451, Saudi Arabia

# ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 5 October 2009 Received in revised form 5 April 2010 Accepted 11 April 2010

# ABSTRACT

A comprehensive review on Dromedary camel milk composition in comparison with bovine milk, the factors effecting camel milk composition, and an overview of production, properties, nutrition value, dairy products and functionality is provided. The mean values of camel milk composition reported from 1980 to 2009 are as follows: protein 3.1%; fat 3.5%; lactose 4.4%; ash 0.79% and total solids 11.9%. Differences between camel and bovine milk proteins lead to some difficulties in cheese manufacturing. Problems associated with cheese produced from camel milk, and factors reported to improve camel milk coagulation, are highlighted. Fresh and fermented camel milk were found to provide various potential health benefits including angiotension I-converting enzyme-inhibitory activity, hypocholesterolaemic effect, hypoglycaemic effect, antimicrobial and hypoallergenicity effects. The proposed mechanisms behind each health benefit are discussed.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

# Contents

1.	Introduction	812
2.	Dromedary camel milk production	812
3.	Dromedary camel milk properties	812
4.	Dromedary camel milk composition	813
	4.1. Proteins	
	4.1.1. Caseins	813
	4.1.2. Whey proteins	815
	4.2. Fats	816
	4.3. Lactose	816
	4.4. Mineral content	816
	4.5. Vitamins	816
5.	Dromedary camel milk dairy products	817
6.	Dromedary camel milk functionality	817
	6.1. Angiotension I-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitory activity	818
	6.2. Hypocholesterolaemic effect	818
	6.3. Hypoglycaemic effect	818
	6.4. Antimicrobial effect	818
	6.5. Hypoallergenicity effect	818
7.	Conclusions	
	References	819

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +966 14678703; fax: +966 14678394. *E-mail address*: hkanhal@ksu.edu.sa (H.A. Al Kanhal).

<sup>0958-6946/\$ –</sup> see front matter @ 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2010.04.003

# 1. Introduction

According to the recent statistics by the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the total population of camels in the world is estimated to be about 20 million, with Somalia having the largest herd worldwide (FAO, 2008). Camels live in the vast pastoral areas in Africa and Asia and are divided into two different species belonging to the genus Camelus. Dromedary camels (Camelus dromedarius, one humped) that mainly live in the desert areas (arid), and Bactrian camel (Camelus bactrianus, two-humped) which prefer living in the cooler areas. The Bactrian species is domesticated in the East to the Northern China and in the West to Asia Minor and Southern Russia, including Mongolia and Kazakhstan (Farah, 1996; Yagil, 1982). On the other hand, the Dromedary species widely occurs in the Middle East, North and East Africa, South West Asia and Australia. The Australian camels are mostly imported from Arabia; it is estimated that up to 20,000 camels were brought to the Australian arid between 1880s and 1907 (Northern Territory Government, 2007). The total population of the Dromedary species (domestic) worldwide is estimated to be about 15 million head (Camelus dromedaries, 2004; Mukasa-Mugerwa, 1981) and will be the subject of this review.

Camels are considered to be a good source of milk and meat, and are used for other purposes such as transportation and sport racing. Camel milk has an important role in human nutrition in the hot regions and arid countries. This milk contains all the essential nutrients found in bovine milk (El-Agamy, Abou-Shloue, & Abdel-Kader, 1998; Karue, 1998). Camel milk is popular in Saudi Arabia and consumed as fresh and soured milk (Abu-Taraboush, Al-Dagal, & Al-Royli, 1998). Fresh and fermented camel milks have been used in different regions in the world including India, Russia and Sudan as a treatment for a series of diseases such as dropsy, jaundice, tuberculosis, asthma and leishmaniasis or kala-azar (Abdelgadir, Ahmed, & Dirar, 1998; Shalash, 1984).

Recently, camel milk was also reported to have other potential therapeutic properties, such as anti-carcinogenic (Magjeed, 2005), anti-diabetic (Agrawal, Budania, Sharma, Gupta, & Kochar, 2007a), and anti-hypertensive (Quan, Tsuda, & Miyamoto, 2008), and has been recommended to be consumed by children who are allergic to bovine milk (El-Agamy, Nawar, Shamsia, Awad, & Haenlein, 2009). Moreover, camel urine was also reported to be used as a treatment for diarrhoea (Al-Attas, 2008).

Camel milk has not been given as much attention in research compared with bovine milk. Most of the research conducted on camels in the past was mainly focused on their anatomical and physiological features (Farah & Farah-Riesen, 1985). However, the recent studies have mainly concentrated on the compositional, characteristics and functionality of camel milk. Several reviews have been published on camel milk (e.g., Farah, 1993, 1996). This review covers the available information from 1997 to 2009 with emphasis on Dromedary camel milk composition. The aim of this paper is to review the currently available information on Dromedary camel milk production, properties, composition, nutritive value, and functionality, as well as dairy products produced from this milk.

#### 2. Dromedary camel milk production

Camels are known to occupy the arid and desert countries; these pastoralist areas and conditions make it difficult to estimate camel milk production. Other major factors including breed, stage of lactation, feeding and management conditions play important role too in the inconsistency of data (Cardellino, Rosati, & Moscom, 2004). However, the current unofficial data in the literature on camel milk production are scarce and are based on observations of particular research stations and rarely based on pastoral areas (FAO, 2003). These data are still valid and highly important but not enough to warrant strong conclusions. According to the latest FAO statistics, camel (both species) milk production in the world is reported to be about 5.3 million tonnes per year; only 1.3 million tonnes are consumed by humans whereas the remaining amount is fed to calves. Somalia is currently expected to be the biggest producer of camel milk worldwide followed by Saudi Arabia (FAO, 2008).

Under these harsh conditions, camels have the capability to produce more milk than any other species and for longer periods of time (Farah, Mollet, Younan, & Dahir, 2007), while their feed requirements are modest (Wilson, 1998). Each camel (both species) produces between 1000 and 2000 L of milk per lactation period of 8–18 months (FAO, 2006). Their daily milk production average is estimated to be between 3 and 10 kg during a lactation period of 12–18 months (Farah et al., 2007). The yield could increase to 20 L per day under improved feed, husbandry practice, water availability and veterinary care (FAO, 2006). Even higher milk yields of up to 35 kg per day have been recorded (Jasra & Aujla, 1998). The average of daily camel milk yield, lactation length and lactation yield have been reviewed by number of researchers and reported by Cardellino et al. (2004), Farah (1996), Yagil (1982), and Yaqoob and Nawaz (2007). Most of the authors did not specify the number of milkings per day, and it is unclear if these figures include young camels which provide up to 40% of the total production (Cardellino et al., 2004).

Most camel milk production is consumed locally by families and their animals, and does not reach the urban markets because most of the camel herds are located in the arid and desert areas which are far from the commercial markets. Recently, a new camel milk product called Camelicious<sup>®</sup> has been launched in the United Arab Emirates market (AME Info, 2006). This product is now available in different flavours and was developed by Central Veterinary Research Laboratory in Dubai. Nowadays, other dairy products (cheese and ice cream) and chocolates produced from camel milk are also available in the markets of Gulf countries due to the increasing demand in recent years. In conclusion, fresh camel milk and their products have unique flavour and good nutritional values, therefore can compete in the market if made available on supermarket shelves and packed in an attractive packaging. It is also important that final products should have acceptable sensory attributes such as taste, aroma, colour and texture during their shelf life. Furthermore, consumers should be provided with the nutritional value of camel milk (Haddadin, Gammoh, & Robinson, 2008).

# 3. Dromedary camel milk properties

Camel milk, generally opaque and white, has an acceptable taste (Dilanyan, 1959; Kheraskov, 1953; Yagil & Etzion, 1980). The milk normally has a sweet and sharp taste, but sometimes can also have a salty taste (Rao, Gupta, & Dastur, 1970) due to the type of plants eaten in the desert by the camels (Khaskheli, Arain, Chaudhry, Soomro, & Qureshi, 2005). The changes in taste are mainly caused by the type of fodder and availability of drinking water (Farah, 1996). Camel milk is frothy when shaken slightly (Shalash, 1979). The average density of camel milk is 1.029 g cm<sup>-3</sup> (Farah, 1996), and has been reported to be less viscous than bovine milk (Laleye, Jobe, & Wasesa, 2008). The viscosity of camel milk at the same dry matter content and under the same conditions is 2.04 mPa s (Kherouatou, Nasri, & Attia, 2003).

The pH of fresh camel milk ranges from 6.5 to 6.7 (Khaskheli et al., 2005; Mehaia, Hablas, Abdel-Rahman, & El-Mougy, 1995; Shalash, 1979); a slightly lower pH of 6.4 (Abu-Taraboush et al.,

1998; Yagil, Saran, & Etzion, 1984) and 6.0 have also been recorded (El-Hadi Sulieman, Ilayan, & El Faki, 2006). The pH of camel milk is similar to that of sheep milk (Yagil et al., 1984), but slightly lower than bovine milk (Sawaya, Khalil, Al-Shalhat, & Al-Mohammad, 1984). The buffering capacity of skim camel milk was reported to be lower than that of bovine milk (Al-Saleh & Hammad, 1992). The highest buffering capacity reported for skim camel milk was at pH 4.95, whereas, bovine skim milk exhibited higher buffering capacity at pH 5.65.

Pasteurized camel milk can last for more than 10 days at 4 °C (Wernery, 2008). The acidity of camel milk was reported to increase rapidly when left to stand at room temperature (Ohri & Joshi, 1961). On the other hand, camel milk was reported to remain stable for a longer time at room temperature when compared with milk from other animals. Whereas bovine milk took 3 h to turn sour (to reach a pH of 5.7) at 30 °C, camel milk took a longer time of 8 h to reach a pH of 5.8 at the same temperature (Lakosa & Shokin, 1964; Ohri & Joshi, 1961). This may be because camel milk contains a greater content of antimicrobial components such as lysozyme, lactoferrin and immunoglobulins than do bovine or buffalo milk (Benkerroum, 2008; El-Agamy, 2000; Kappeler, Farah, & Puhan, 1999; Konuspayeva, Faye, Loiseau, & Levieux, 2007). In another study, bovine milk took 48 h to completely turn sour and coagulate, whereas camel milk turned sour after 5 days and did not coagulate over 7 days at 30 °C, as did bovine milk (Yagil et al., 1984). However, variations in time, pH and acidity for the same source of milk could be due to differences in hygiene of the actual milking and the total microbial count of the milk (Mehaia et al., 1995).

#### 4. Dromedary camel milk composition

Milk is a complete food for newborn mammals during the early stages of rapid development (Shah, 2000). Camel milk composition has been studied in different parts of the world including Saudi Arabia (Elamin & Wilcox, 1992; Haddadin et al., 2008; Mehaia et al., 1995; Ohri & Joshi, 1961; Omer & Eltinay, 2009; Sawaya et al., 1984; Shuiep, El Zubeir, El Owni, & Musa, 2008). Literature data have shown wide ranges of variation in camel milk composition, these variations will be discussed later. Konuspayeva, Faye, and Loiseau (2009) conducted a meta analysis study and given the means of camel milk composition (Bactrian and Dromedary) for the period between 1905 and 2006. In the current study, the references and mean values of Dromedary milk composition are given in Table 1 for the period from 1980 to 2009. The mean values shown in Table 1 of total solids (11.9%) of Dromedary milk is slightly lower than that reported (Gassem & Abu-Tarboush, 2000; Mehaia et al., 1995) in bovine milk (12.33%). Moreover, the main components are relatively close to that of bovine milk. According to the available references (11 references), the mean values of Dromedary milk composition in Saudi Arabia are as follows: protein 2.9  $\pm$  0.5, fat 3.1  $\pm$  1.1, lactose 4.46  $\pm$  0.18, ash 0.78  $\pm$  0.04 and total solids 11.3  $\pm$  1.2. These values (protein, fat and total solids) are lower than those mean values shown in Table 1.

Camel milk composition was found to be less stable than other species such as bovine milk. However, variations observed in camel milk composition could be attributed to several factors such as analytical measurement procedures, geographical locations, feeding conditions and samples being taken from different breeds, in addition to other factors including stage of lactation, age, and calving number (Khaskheli et al., 2005). Geographical origin and seasonal variations were found to be the most effective factors in camel milk composition. Konuspayeva et al. (2009) have studied the effect of geographical origin on camel milk composition and shown that the milk composition from camels living in East Africa have higher fat content than the milk from camels living in Africa and Western Asia. Variation in camel milk composition was also observed for camels from the same species (Dromedary) but domesticated in different parts of the world (Mehaia et al., 1995).

Seasonal variations were also found to play a role in camel milk composition even for camels from the same species (Dromedary) and regions (Bakheit, Bahr-Lindström, Zaidi, & Jörnvall, 2008; Haddadin et al., 2008; Shuiep et al., 2008). An inverse relationship was found between total solids in camel milk and water intake by camels. In one study, all components except lactose reached their maxima in mid-winter and were lowest in summer. For example, total solids were 13.9% in December and January, and 10.2% in August due to availability of drinking water (Haddadin et al., 2008). In another study, the fat content of camel milk was reported to decrease from 4.3 to 1.1 percent due to the increase in water content of milk produced by thirsty camels (Yagil & Etzion, 1980). The increase observed in water content could be attributed to the decrease in total solids produced by the thirsty camels.

Konuspayeva et al. (2009) have analyzed the composition of camel (Bactrian and Dromedary) milk over time between 1905 and 2006. The changes in camel milk composition over different periods of time are given in Table 2. Only a few references (seven in total) were available to document changes for the time period 2007 to 2009. These changes in camel milk composition (Table 2) could be due to several factors including analytical measurement procedures, camel diet, climate, water availability, livestock management, and other factors.

#### 4.1. Proteins

Total protein content of Dromedary camel milk ranges from 2.15 to 4.90% (Konuspayeva et al., 2009); the average is  $3.1 \pm 0.5$  percent (Table 1). Variation in camel milk composition was discussed earlier. Moreover, camel breeds and seasonal conditions were found, in particular, to play a role in camel milk protein content. Protein content (casein and whey proteins) was found to be similar for camel milk of the same breed, such as Majaheim (Elamin & Wilcox, 1992; Sawaya et al., 1984), but varied for other breeds. Majaheim milk was reported to have a higher protein content when compared with other Dromedary breeds such as Wadah and Hamra (Mehaia et al., 1995). Protein content was also reported to vary according to season for the same breed; protein content was found to be lowest (2.48%) in August and highest (2.9%) in December and January (Haddadin et al., 2008). Camel milk protein can be classified into two main components as described in the following sections.

## 4.1.1. Caseins

Casein (CN) is the major protein in camel milk. Dromedary camel milk has about 1.63–2.76% casein equal to about 52–87% of the total proteins (Farag & Kabary, 1992; Khaskheli et al., 2005; Mehaia et al., 1995). The  $\beta$ -CN is the main camel milk casein followed by  $\alpha_{s1}$ -CN, and constitutes about 65% and 21% of total casein, respectively (Kappeler, Farah, & Puhan, 2003) compared with 36% and 38% in bovine milk, respectively (Davies & Law, 1980).

Camel milk is similar to human milk in that it contains a high percentage of  $\beta$ -CN; this high percentage could reflect its higher digestibility rate and lower incidence of allergy in the gut of infants, as  $\beta$ -CN is more sensitive to peptic hydrolysis than  $\alpha_s$ -CN (Abou-Soliman, 2005; El-Agamy et al., 2009). Only 3.47% of the total casein corresponds to  $\kappa$ -casein in camel milk (Kappeler et al., 2003) compared with 13% in bovine milk (Davies & Law, 1980). Moreover, other researchers reported that  $\kappa$ -CN possibly escaped detection or was obscured by other casein components due to its low concentration (Farah & Atkins, 1992). Furthermore, no bands were detected for  $\kappa$ -CN after electrophoresis (Farah & Farah-Riesen, 1985). The

#### Table 1

References, mean values and standard deviations (SD) of Dromedary milk composition (%).<sup>a</sup>

References*	Protein	Fat	Lactose	Ash	Total solids	Remarks (number of samples, individual/bulk, breed, season and region)
Yagil & Etzion, 1980*	4.9	3.9	5	0.63	13.8	Israel
Mukasa-Mugerwa, 1981	4.02	4.33	4.21	0.79	13.36	Bulk, Saudi Arabia
El-Agamy, 1983*	3.7	2.9	5.8	0.7	13.1	Egypt
Sawaya et al., 1984	2.95	3.6	4.4	0.79	11.74	11 samples, bulk, Najdi Saudi Arabia
Gnan & Sherida, 1986*	3.3	3.3	5.61	0.82	13.03	Libya
Abdel-Rahim, 1987*	4	3.2	4.8	0.7	13.4	Pakistan
Abu-Lehia, 1987*	2.68	3.31	4.67	0.8	11.29	Saudi Arabia
Hassan, Hagrass, Soryal, &	2.5	3.5	3.9	0.8	11	East Africa
El-Shabrawy, 1987*						
Hjort af Ornas, 1988*	3	5.4	3.3	0.7	13.7	Somalia
Jardali, 1988*	3.45	3.7	4.62	0.74	12.63	East Africa
Ellouze & Kamoun, 1989*	2.29	3.55	4.69	0.9	11.4	Tunisia
Abu-Lehia, 1989	4	3.8	5.5	0.8	14.2	Saudi Arabia
Farah & Rüegg, 1989	3.11	3.15	5.24	0.8	12.2	Bulk, Kenya
Mehaia & Al-Kanhal, 1989*	3.35	3.24	4.52	0.8	11.91	Saudi Arabia
Taha & Keilwein, 1989*	3.19	5.22	5	0.8	14.5	Egypt
Bayoumi, 1990*	3.27	3.6	5.53	0.8	13.2	Egypt
Elamin & Wilcox, 1992	2.81	3.15	4.16	0.83	10.95	81 samples, bulk, Majaheim, Saudi Arabia
Farag & Kabary, 1992	3.1	3.9	4.47	0.8	12.36	40 samples, bulk, Egypt
Mehaia, 1993	2.54	3.9	4.71	0.79	11.94	Bulk, Majaheim, Saudi Arabia
Mehaia et al., 1995	2.52	2.85	4.46	0.8	10.63	8 samples, bulk, Hamra, Saudi Arabia
Mehaia et al., 1995	2.36	2.46	4.44	0.81	10.07	8 samples, bulk, Wadah, Saudi Arabia
Mehaia et al., 1995	2.91	3.22	4.43	0.79	11.35	8 samples, bulk, Majaheim, Saudi Arabia
Mehaia, 1996	3.22	0.28	4.45	0.69	8.64	Bulk, Majaheim, Saudi Arabia
El-Agamy et al., 1998*	3.26	3.95	4.74	0.85	12.8	Egypt
Karue, 1998*	3.42	5.6	3.65	0.86	12.14	Kenya
Mehaia, 1998*	2.54	3.9	4.71	0.79	11.94	Saudi Arabia
Ramdaoui & Obad, 1998*	3.36	2.74	4.19	0.86	11.14	Morocco
Wangoh, Farah, & Puhan, 1998*	3.08	4.2	4.18	0.79	12.66	Kenya (Somali)
Wangoh et al., 1998*	3.31	4.81	4.28	0.83	13.44	Kenya (Turkana)
Wangoh et al., 1998*	3.13	4.29	4.05	0.82	12.45	Kenya
Zhao, 1998*	3.45	4.15	4.55	0.7	8.85	China (Dromedary)
Zia-Ur-Rahman & Straten, 1998*	2.68	5.22	4.3	0.73	10.4	Pakistan
Zia-Ur-Rahman & Straten, 1998*	4	3.5	3.26	0.83	13.3	Pakistan
Zia-Ur-Rahman & Straten, 1998*	3	4.5	4.1	0.78	11.1	Pakistan
Guliye, Yagil, & DeB Hovell, 2000*	2.79	3.39	4.81	0.77	11.5	Kenya
Attia, Kherouatou, & Dhouib, 2001*	2.81	1.2	5.4	0.99	9.61	6 samples, individual, Tunisia
Indra, 2003*	3.53	4.47	4.95	0.7	13.64	N/A <sup>c</sup>
Kouniba, Berrada, Zahar, & Bengoumi, 2005 <sup>*</sup>	3.25	2.65	4.05	0.83	10.8	Morocco
Abdoun, Amin, & Abdelatif, 2007	3.5	3.26	3.6	0.67	11.03	50 samples, bulk, Arabian camel, Sudan
Kamal, Salama, & El-Saied, 2007	3.3	3.78	5.85	0.7	15.06	Bulk, winter, Egypt
Haddadin et al., 2008	2.69	2.95	3.92	0.82	12.3	Bulk, different season, Jordan
Shuiep et al., 2008	2.93	2.64	3.12	0.73	9.56	112 samples, bulk, different season, East Sudan
Shulep et al., 2008	2.94	2.85	2.9	0.73	9.41	112 samples, bulk, different season, West Sudan
Bakheit, Majid, & Nikhala, 2008	3.4	3.4	3.6	0.8	10.9	44 samples, bulk, North Sudan
Omer & Eltinay, 2009	2.06	2.35	4.41	0.94	9.78	70 samples, bulk, Sudan (different area)
omer & Liunay, 2005			-1.41			vo sampies, buik, sudan (unicient dica)
Mean	3.1	3.5	4.4	0.79	11.9	
SD	±0.5	±1.0	±0.7	±0.07	±1.5	

<sup>a</sup> References marked with an asterisk are those cited by Konuspayeva et al. (2009). Mean values and standard deviation (SD) are those of data from 45 references from different parts of the world.

Year	Protein	Fat	Lactose	Ash	Total solids	Refs.
1905-1969	$3.7\pm0.3$	$3.6\pm0.8$	$5.1\pm0.8$	$0.75\pm0.09$	$13.0\pm0.5$	12
1972-1982	$3.9\pm0.8$	$4.5\pm0.8$	$4.0\pm0.6$	$0.75\pm0.12$	$12.9\pm1.5$	9
1983-1992	$3.2\pm0.6$	$\textbf{3.8} \pm \textbf{0.7}$	$4.8\pm0.6$	$0.78 \pm 0.06$	$12.8 \pm 1.2$	23
1993-2006	$3.1\pm0.4$	$3.6 \pm 1.3$	$4.4\pm0.5$	$0.80\pm0.06$	$11.4 \pm 1.4$	20
2007-2009	$\textbf{3.0} \pm \textbf{0.5}$	$3.0\pm0.5$	$3.9\pm1.0$	$0.77\pm0.09$	$11.1\pm2.0$	7

Mean values and standard deviations of Dromedar	v camel milk composition	(%) published within group	of vears <sup>a</sup>
mean values and standard deviations of Diomedal	y cumer mink composition	()) published whenin group	S of years.

<sup>a</sup> Values from 1905 to 1992 were adapted from Konuspayeva et al. (2009); Refs. = number of references.

estimated molecular masses of  $\beta$ -CN and  $\alpha$ -CN in camel milk using SDS-PAGE technique were 28.6 kDa (Mohamed, 1993) and 35 kDa (Farah, 1996), respectively. These molecular mass values are higher than those reported by Eigel et al. (1984) for bovine  $\beta$ -CN (24 kDa) and  $\alpha$ -CN (22–25 kDa).

The amino acid sequence of Dromedary casein was studied by Kappeler, Farah, and Puhan (1998). The number of amino acid residues in the four caseins sequences was:  $\alpha_{s1}$ -CN, 207;  $\alpha_{s2}$ -CN, 178;  $\beta$ -CN, 217;  $\kappa$ -CN, 162. This study reported that the casein structure of Dromedary camel milk is similar to that of bovine milk, and only few pronounced differences were noticed. These differences were highly noticeable in the primary structure of  $\alpha_{s1}$ -CN, whereas similarities were observed in the secondary structure of casein when both compared with bovine casein structure. The amino acid composition of Dromedary milk was reported to be similar to that of bovine milk; only glycine and cystine were found to be significantly lower in Dromedary milk casein (Farah & Rüegg, 1989).

Camel milk  $\kappa$ -CN was found to have a different site for hydrolysis by chymosin compared with bovine milk  $\kappa$ -CN. Chymosin is known to hydrolyze bovine milk  $\kappa$ -CN at the Phe<sup>105</sup>-Met<sup>106</sup> bond, whereas its hydrolysis site on camel milk  $\kappa$ -CN is Phe<sup>97</sup>-Ile<sup>98</sup> (Kappeler et al., 1998). Moreover, camel milk  $\kappa$ -CN was reported to contain an extra proline residue in its sequence (Pro<sup>95</sup>). This additional proline residue is expected to play an important role in the stability of camel milk  $\kappa$ -CN sequence compared with bovine milk  $\kappa$ -CN sequence (Kappeler et al., 1998). However, bovine rennet has been reported to coagulate camel milk less readily than camel rennet (Wangoh, Farah, & Puhan, 1993). Coagulation of camel milk through the action of both rennets was attributed to the pepsin content in the rennet preparation used (Wangoh et al., 1993). A higher pepsin content in rennet results in a faster coagulation time.

Other properties of camel milk proteins (casein and whey proteins) were also found to be significantly different from bovine milk proteins include lower electrophoretic mobility (Farah, 1986; Farah & Farah-Riesen, 1985) and higher molecular size (Farah, 1996). Compared with bovine milk, camel milk exhibited a lower degree of hydrolysis after reaction with pancreatic enzymes (Salami et al., 2008).

# 4.1.2. Whey proteins

Table 2

Whey proteins are the second main component of camel milk proteins and constitute 20–25% of the total proteins. The Dromedary camel milk whey protein content ranges between 0.63 and 0.80% of the milk (Farag & Kabary, 1992; Khaskheli et al., 2005; Mehaia et al., 1995). In general, the composition of camel milk whey proteins is different to that of bovine milk whey, where camel milk is deficient in  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin, as also observed for human milk (El-Agamy et al., 2009). In bovine milk whey proteins,  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin is the main component (50%) and  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin is the second (25%), whereas in camel milk whey,  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin is deficient (El-Agamy, 2000; Farah, 1986; Farah & Atkins, 1992; Kappeler et al., 2003; Laleye et al., 2008; Merin et al., 2001) and  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin is the main component. Camel milk  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin was reported to have a molecular mass of 14.6 kDa and to comprise 123 residues, which is similar to bovine, human and goat milk  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin (Beg, 1986; Beg, Bahr-Lindström, Zaidi, & Jörnvall, 1985). However, SDS-PAGE results show that human whey proteins are characterized by the presence of high intensity  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin and lactoferrin bands, whereas,  $\alpha$ lactalbumin and blood serum albumin (BSA) bands are dominant in camel whey proteins (El-Agamy et al., 2009). Moreover, large differences were found in the amino acid sequence of  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin of camel milk compared with other species, including bovine and goat.

Camel milk whey contains other main components such as serum albumin, lactoferrin, immunoglobulins and peptidoglycan recognition protein (Farah, 1993; Kappeler, Heuberger, Farah, & Puhan, 2004; Merin et al., 2001). Lactoferrin from different milk sources are known to retain iron at pH lower than 3–4 (Mazurier & Spik, 1980); in contrast, lactoferrin in camel milk was found to lose iron from its N-lobe at pH 3–4 and from its C-lobe at pH 6–7 (Khan et al., 2001).

The whey released from camel milk after coagulation is known to have a white colour (El-Zubeir & Jabreel, 2008) compared with the greenish whey from bovine milk cheese manufacture. This is reported to be due to light scatting from the increased concentration of small particles of caseins and fat globules in camel milk whey (Mohamed & Larsson-Raznikiewicz, 1990), or may be because of the low concentration of riboflavin (Farah, 1993; Webb, Johnson, & Alford, 1974).

Some properties of camel milk whey proteins were found to be different from those of whey proteins of the milk of other animals. It has been reported that heat stability of camel milk was affected by the protein content; camel milk shows poor stability at high temperatures of up to 140 °C compared with bovine milk due to the absence or deficiency of  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin and  $\kappa$ -CN in camel milk (Al-Saleh, 1996; Farah & Atkins, 1992). The addition of either urea or formaldehyde does not improve the heat stability of camel milk (Metwalli, Ibrahim, & Hassanein, 2000), however, camel milk whey has been shown to be more heat stable than bovine or buffalo whey (Al-Saleh, 1996; El-Agamy, 2000; Wernery, 2006). The denaturation of camel milk was reported to be lower (32–35%) than that reported for bovine whey proteins (70–75%) at 80 °C for 30 min (Al-Saleh, 1996).

The emulsion and foaming properties of camel milk whey proteins were studied by Laleye et al. (2008). Most of the droplets (88%) in the emulsion formed from camel whey have a diameter of greater than 2  $\mu$ m at pH 5. In contrast, 80% of droplets formed from bovine whey at the same pH have a diameter of less than 2  $\mu$ m and only 1.5% of the droplets have larger diameter than 3  $\mu$ m. Bovine milk whey yields a higher foam volume than camel milk whey. Whey protein aggregation by heat treatment was found to increase in camel milk whey at pH lower than 5 because of the high content of  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin, leading to the conclusion that camel whey protein is more sensitive to acidity than bovine whey protein (Laleye et al., 2008).

The enzymatic digestibility and antioxidant activity of camel  $\alpha$ lactalbumin were studied recently by Salami et al. (2009). Camel  $\alpha$ lactalbumin has shown higher degrees of hydrolysis (digestibility) with both trypsin and chymotrypsin enzyme than bovine  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin, but both proteins shown similar sensitivity to pepsin enzyme. The antioxidant activity of camel  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin was greater than that of bovine  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin because it contains higher antioxidant amino acids residues, in addition to the differences in conformational features of both proteins.

# 4.2. Fats

The fat content of Dromedary camel milk is between 1.2 and 6.4% (Konuspayeva et al., 2009) and the average is  $3.5 \pm 1.0$  percent (Table 1). A strong positive correlation was found between fat and protein contents (Haddadin et al., 2008). Fat content of camel milk was reported to decrease from 4.3 to 1.1 percent in milk produced by thirsty camels (Yagil & Etzion, 1980).

Compared with bovine milk, Dromedary camel milk fat (Majaheim and Najdi breeds) contains smaller amounts of short chain fatty acids (Abu-Lehia, 1989) and a lower content of carotene (Stahl, Sallmann, Duehlmeier, & Wernery, 2006). This lower carotene content could explain the whiter colour of camel milk fat (Abu-Lehia, 1989). Higher contents of long chain fatty acids were also reported for Dromedary camel milk fat compared with bovine milk fat (Konuspayeva, Lemarie, Faye, Loiseau, & Montet, 2008). Similarly, the mean values of unsaturated fatty acid content (43%) were higher in Dromedary camel milk, especially the essential fatty acids (Abu-Lehia, 1989; Haddadin et al., 2008; Sawaya et al., 1984). Human milk fat contains a higher content of unsaturated fatty acids compared with bovine (Bracco, Hidalgo, & Bohren, 1971) and camel milk fat. It has been reported (Konuspaveva et al., 2008) that the percentage of saturated acids is higher in bovine milk fat (69.9%) than in camel milk fat (67.7%).

The average of cholesterol content of camel milk fat (34.5 mg 100  $g^{-1}$ ) was found to be higher (25.63 mg 100  $g^{-1}$ ) than that reported for bovine milk fat (Gorban & Izzeldin, 1999; Konuspayeva et al., 2008). Nevertheless, it was also found to be lower than that reported for some bovine milk (Haddadin et al., 2008). The melting point and solidification temperature of camel milk fat were studied and discussed by Abu-Lehia (1989) and Rüegg and Farah (1991). These two properties were found to be higher in camel milk fat (41.9  $\pm$  0.9 °C and 30.5  $\pm$  2.2 °C respectively), compared with bovine milk fat (32.6  $\pm$  1.5 °C and 22.8  $\pm$  1.6 °C respectively), probably because camel milk fat contains a lower amount of short chain fatty acids (C4-C12) and a higher amount of long chain fatty acids (C14–C22) compared with bovine milk fat (Abu-Lehia, 1989; Haddadin et al., 2008; Rüegg & Farah, 1991) in addition to the differences in isomeric properties of oleic acid (Fjaervoll, 1970). Butter was reported to be only produced from camel cream at a high churning temperature of 20 °C-25 °C (Rüegg & Farah, 1991). These temperatures are higher than those values reported for bovine milk butter manufacture of 8 °C-12 °C (Rüegg & Farah, 1991). Also, camel milk fat has been reported to be more viscous (Attia, Kherouatou, Fakhfakh, Khorchani, & Trigui, 2000). Some difficulties were reported in extracting fat from camel milk using some traditional methods such as churning sour milk, likely because fat globules were firmly bound to the proteins in camel milk (Khan & Appanna, 1967).

#### 4.3. Lactose

The lactose content of Dromedary camel milk varies from 2.40 to 5.80% (Konuspayeva et al., 2009); the average is  $4.4 \pm 0.7$  percent (Table 1). The wide variation of lactose content could be due to the type of plants eaten in the deserts (Khaskheli et al., 2005). Camels usually prefer halophilic plants such as Atriplex, Salosa and Acacia to meet their physiological requirements of salts (Yagil, 1982).

Hence, camel milk is sometimes described as sweet, salty and at other times as bitter. It has been reported that the lactose content is the only component that almost remains almost unchanged over a season (Haddadin et al., 2008) and under hydrated or dehydrated conditions (Yagil & Etzion, 1980). Lactose content was only found to change slightly for camel milk of some Dromedary breeds in different part of the world (Elamin & Wilcox, 1992; Haddadin et al., 2008; Mehaia et al., 1995; Sawaya et al., 1984).

# 4.4. Mineral content

The total content of minerals is usually expressed as total ash; this amount varies from 0.60 to 0.90% in Dromedary camel milk (Konuspayeva et al., 2009) and the average is 0.79  $\pm$  0.07 percent (Table 1). Variations in mineral content were attributed to breed differences, feeding, analytical procedures (Mehaia et al., 1995) and water intake (Haddadin et al., 2008). The major mineral content of Dromedary camel milk was also found to vary between breeds, such as Majaheim, Najdi, Wadah and Hamra (Elamin & Wilcox, 1992; Mehaia et al., 1995; Sawaya et al., 1984). The mean values and standard deviation of Dromedary milk minerals are as follows: calcium, 114  $\pm$  13 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>; potassium, 156  $\pm$  38 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>; sodium, 59  $\pm$  16 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>; manganese, 0.05  $\pm$  0.03 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> and zinc, 0.53  $\pm$  0.08 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>.

Camel milk is a rich source of chloride (Khaskheli et al., 2005) due to the forage eaten by camels, such as Atriplex and Acacia, which usually contains a high salt content (Yagil, 1982). The reduction in major milk components and increase in chloride content of milk from dehydrated camels might be another cause for the salty taste in camel milk (Yagil & Etzion, 1980). The minerals Na, K, Fe, Cu and Mn in Dromedary camel milk were substantially higher than that reported for bovine milk (Mehaia et al., 1995; Sawaya et al., 1984). Fe was reported to play an essential role in a number of biological systems, including oxygen transport and storage as well as DNA synthesis (Al-Attas, 2008; Miller, 1996). Mn was shown to play a key role in cellular metabolism, where the presence of this element is important for the function of a number of enzymes (Al-Attas, 2008), including enzymes for cell protection from free radical damage (Combs, Clark, & Turnbull, 1997). Furthermore, the content of Ca, P and Mg of Dromedary camel milk were close to bovine milk (Sawaya et al., 1984).

#### 4.5. Vitamins

Dromedary camel milk was reported to contain various vitamins, such as vitamin C, A, E, D and B group (Farah, Rettenmaier, & Atkins, 1992; Haddadin et al., 2008; Sawaya et al., 1984; Stahl et al., 2006). Camel milk is known to be a rich source of vitamin C; the vitamin content was reported to be three times (Farah et al., 1992) to five times (Stahl et al., 2006) higher than that in bovine milk. Hence, raw and fermented camel milk could be a good source of vitamin C for the people living in the desert area where vegetables and fruits are not available (Sawaya et al., 1984). The mean of vitamin C content in Dromedary camel milk is 34.16 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Farah et al., 1992; Haddadin et al., 2008; Sawaya et al., 1984). Compared with bovine milk, the niacin (B<sub>3</sub>) content was reported to be higher in camel milk (Haddadin et al., 2008; Sawaya et al., 1984).

The content of vitamin A and riboflavin ( $B_2$ ) in Dromedary camel milk was reported to be lower than that of bovine milk (Farah et al., 1992; Sawaya et al., 1984; Stahl et al., 2006). The mean concentrations of pantothenic acid, folic acid and  $B_{12}$  in camel milk from Jordan were reported to be much higher than that reported for bovine milk (Haddadin et al., 2008). These results are in contrast to that reported by Sawaya et al. (1984) from Najdi camel milk; this may be due to differences in camel breed and analytical procedures. However, the concentrations of thiamin (B<sub>1</sub>) and pyridoxine (B<sub>6</sub>) in Dromedary camel milk were comparable to those for bovine milk (Haddadin et al., 2008; Sawaya et al., 1984), whereas the concentration of vitamin E was very close to that of bovine milk (Farah et al., 1992). According to the USDA (2009), Dromedary camel milk (250 mL) provide an adult with about 15.5% of cobalamin (B<sub>12</sub>), 8.25% of riboflavin (B<sub>2</sub>), 5.25% of vitamin A and 10.5% of ascorbic acid (C), thiamin (B<sub>1</sub>) and pyridoxine (B<sub>6</sub>) of the Recommended Daily Intake (RDI). By comparison, bovine milk (250 mL) provide an adult with about 43.5% of cobalamin (B<sub>12</sub>), 36% of riboflavin (B<sub>2</sub>), 11.5% of pyridoxine (B<sub>6</sub>), 3.5% of ascorbic acid (C) and 9% of vitamin A and thiamin (B<sub>1</sub>) of the RDI.

#### 5. Dromedary camel milk dairy products

It has been reported that camel milk is only suitable for drinking (Yagil et al., 1984). However various products produced from Dromedary camel milk include soft cheese (El-Zubeir & Jabreel, 2008; Inayat, Arain, Khaskheli, & Malik, 2003; Mehaia, 1993, 2006), fermented milk (Elayan, Sulieman, & Saleh, 2008; Farah, Streiff, & Bachmann, 1990), yoghurt (Hashim, Khalil, & Habib, 2008), ice cream (Abu-Lehia, Al-Mohiezea, & El-Behry, 1989) and butter (Farah, Streiff, & Bachmann, 1989; Rüegg & Farah, 1991).

Yoghurt produced from camel milk (with no additives) was reported to have a thin, flowable and very soft texture (Hashim et al., 2008). The addition of both 0.75% sodium alginate and 0.075% calcium chloride to camel milk was reported to produce acceptable firmness and body similar to that for yoghurt produced from bovine milk (Hashim et al., 2008).

Ice cream was reported to be produced successfully from camel milk using a mixture of 12% fat, 11% milk solids not fat (MSNF) and 37% total solids (Abu-Lehia et al., 1989). The overrun of camel milk ice cream was found to significantly depend on the fat and MSNF levels in the mixture (Abu-Lehia et al., 1989). For example the increase in fat and MSNF content in the mixture leads to an increase in viscosity.

These camel milk products were made at laboratory scale, but some are usually produced at a larger scale in the pastoral areas during the peak season of milk production or when milk production is above that required for human and young calf use. These products are still not well developed enough to reach a commercial scale, and there is also a need to examine consumer acceptability of these products.

There have been a number of attempts to produce cheese from camel milk, but most of these trials were unsuccessful and yielded contradictory results. The problems associated with production of cheese include:

- Long coagulation time. Camel milk exhibits a two to three fold longer rennet coagulation time compared with bovine milk (Farah & Bachmann, 1987). This was attributed to the differences in the size of casein particles (Farah & Rüegg, 1989) that is mainly related to the availability of κ-CN (Farah & Atkins, 1992; Farah & Rüegg, 1989). Camel milk coagulum was reported to contain a greater number of large casein micelles than bovine milk coagulum (Farah & Rüegg, 1989). Such an increase in the number of large casein micelles is due to the reduced κ-CN content (Eksterend, Larsson, & Perlmann, 1980), consequently prolonging the coagulation time.
- Weak curd. This is likely due to the low total solids content of the coagulum, especially casein (El-Zubeir & Jabreel, 2008; Mehaia, 2006; Ramet, 2001). Other reasons could be due to the small size of the camel fat globules (2.99 μm) compared with that (3.78 μm) of bovine fat globules (El-Zeini, 2006;

Farah, 1993; Knoess, Makjdun, Rafig, & Hafeez, 1986), or may be due to low elasticity and high fragility of the cheese gel texture (Ramet, 2001). Camel milk casein contains a higher number of large micelles (200–500 nm) than bovine milk (220–300 nm); this results in formation of a less firm coagulum during cheese processing (Farah & Rüegg, 1989).

- Rennet action. The coagulum obtained from camel milk by bovine rennet action showed a fragile and heterogeneous structure (Farah & Bachmann, 1987; Farah & Rüegg, 1989).
- 4. Cheese yield. Soft white cheese made from camel milk by conventional processes was reported to give up to a 12% yield, which is 50% lower than for soft cheese produced from bovine milk (El-Zubeir & Jabreel, 2008; Mehaia, 1993). A lower yield of 5% was reported for hard cheese produced from camel milk (Mohamed & Larsson-Raznikiewicz, 1990). Soft white cheese made from camel milk using an ultrafiltration process reported a higher yield of up to 20% due to increased recovery of proteins, fat, and other milk solids (Mehaia, 2006).

Several factors have been reported to improve camel milk coagulation, including the addition of calcium chloride (El-Zubeir & Jabreel, 2008; Mehaia, 1993). Using camel gastric enzyme extracts (Siboukeur, Mati, & Hessas, 2005) and rennet instead of bovine rennet resulted in improved camel milk coagulation. This could be attributed to the pepsin content in the rennet preparation used. Higher pepsin content in rennet results in a faster coagulation time (Wangoh et al., 1993).

The addition of yoghurt culture or other lactic acid bacteria with rennet to camel milk was reported to facilitate camel milk coagulation by increasing the lactic acid content and improving curd firmness (Gassem & Abu-Tarboush, 2000; Mehaia, 1993, 2006), whereas the addition of yoghurt culture or other lactic acid bacteria alone to camel milk did not coagulate the milk (Gassem & Abu-Tarboush, 2000). Other studies reported that decreasing pH to 5.6 and increasing temperature to up to 42 °C resulted in a reduction in camel milk coagulation time (Farah & Bachmann, 1987; Mehaia, Abou EL-Kheir, & Hablas, 1988; Siboukeur et al., 2005). The mechanism behind the reduction of camel milk coagulation time when lowering the pH could be due to the enhancement of the charge neutralization process and conformation changes occurring in the secondary phase of coagulation (Mehaia & Cheryan, 1983), whereas, increasing the temperature increases the rate of aggregation of the micelles and the formation of a gel network through the hydrophobic interactions (Kowalchyk & Olson, 1977). Increasing the concentration of rennet up to 70 times was also reported to accelerate camel milk coagulation (Larsson-Raznikiewicz & Mohamed, 1986; Ramet, 1989). The need for high rennet concentration to coagulate camel milk could be due to the presence of specific protease inhibitors in camel milk and/or a particular casein micelle structure limiting access of the protease to the  $\kappa$ -CN substrate, however, these hypotheses need to be confirmed (Ramet, 2001).

# 6. Dromedary camel milk functionality

For a long time, milk was considered to only provide nutritional components such as essential amino acids (Hambræus, 1992). In the last decades, several studies have shown that milk is an important nutritional and functional source and could provide particular health benefits due to the presence of bioactive substances in milk. Fresh and fermented Dromedary camel milk have been acknowledged for a long time in different parts of the world to provide a potential treatment for a series of diseases such as dropsy, jaundice, tuberculosis, asthma, and leishmaniasis or kala-azar (Abdelgadir et al., 1998; Shalash, 1984). These potential health benefits are obtained through a number of bioactive components in camel milk. These components were reported to exist naturally in camel milk (Agrawal et al., 2007a; El-Agamy, Ruppanner, Ismail, Champagne, & Assaf, 1992); or derived from camel milk proteins using probiotic strains (Elayan et al., 2008; Quan et al., 2008). These bioactive components and activities will be discussed individually in the following sections.

# 6.1. Angiotension I-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitory activity

ACE is one of the major regulators of blood pressure (Smith & Vane, 2003). ACE (peptidyldipeptide hydrolase, EC 3.4.15.1) was defined by Pan, Luo, and Tanokura (2005) as "an exopeptidase that cleaves dipeptides from the C-terminal ends of various peptide substrates and regulates the activity of several endogenous bioactive peptides". ACE-inhibitory peptides are present in the primary structure of various food protein sources including milk proteins (Jang & Lee, 2005; Li, Le, Shi, & Shrestha, 2004; Minervini et al., 2003). These peptides are also found in fermented Dromedary camel milk (Quan et al., 2008). To produce these bioactive peptides, which have been reported to have health benefits, milk proteins (casein and whey) were hydrolyzed by proteolytic digestion, such as by lactic acid bacteria (probiotic) or proteolytic enzymes (Alhaj, Kanekanian, & Peters, 2006). Probiotic bacteria have been shown to hydrolyze the major components of milk proteins to increase the number of peptides and amino acids to enable their growth (Alhai, Kanekanian, & Peters, 2007). Lactobacillus helveticus 130B4 was used to release the ACE-inhibitory peptides from camel milk proteins; the amino acid sequence was identified as Ala-Ile-Pro-Pro-Lys-Lys-Asn-Gln-Asp (Quan et al., 2008).

This strain (*Lb. helveticus*) has been extensively used to produce ACE-inhibitory peptides from bovine milk proteins (Minervini et al., 2003; Pan et al., 2005; Yamamoto, Akino, & Takano, 1994). The mechanism of ACE-inhibitory activity was reported to depend on the structure-activity of the ACE-inhibitory peptide (Li et al., 2004). Such an ACE-inhibitory peptide should have the ability to bind to the active site of the ACE to inhibit ACE activity. The C-terminal sequence of these ACE-inhibitory peptides was found to play a predominant role in the binding to the ACE (López-Fandiño, Otte, & Van Camp, 2006).

# 6.2. Hypocholesterolaemic effect

Coronary heart disease is one of the major causes of death in the industrialized countries (Pereira & Gibson, 2002). Elevated levels of blood and dietary cholesterol are considered to be a major risk factor for coronary heart diseases (Reddy, Mastromarini, & Wynder, 1977). Fermented camel milk (Gariss) and Gariss containing Bifidobacterium lactis (BB-12) administration have been reported to possess a hypocholesterolaemic effect in vivo in rats (Elayan et al., 2008). This strain was previously shown to reduce cholesterol in bovine milk and MRS broth (Alhaj et al., 2006) as well as in trypticase-peptone yeast extract medium (Tahri, Crociani, Ballongue, & Schneider, 1995). The hypocholesterolaemic mechanism of camel milk is still unclear, but different hypotheses have been proposed, including: interaction between bioactive peptides derived from camel milk proteins and cholesterol which result in cholesterol reduction (Li & Papadopoulos, 1998; Seelig & Seelig, 1996), and the presence of orotic acid in camel milk which is thought to be responsible for lowering cholesterol level in human subjects (Buonopane, Kilara, Smith, & McCarthy, 1992) and in rats (Rao, Chawan, & Pulusani, 1981).

#### 6.3. Hypoglycaemic effect

Dromedary camel milk consumption has been reported to be responsible for the low prevalence of diabetes in the Raica community in India (Agrawal et al., 2007a; Singh, Fotedar, & Lakshminarayana, 2008). Camel milk consumption also provides effective management for patients with type 1 diabetes (Agrawal et al., 2003) as well as for rats (Sahani et al., 2005). These were related to various factors, including the presence of high concentration of insulin/insulin like substances in camel milk, such as halfcystine (Agrawal et al., 2003; Beg, Bahr-Lindström, Zaidi, & Jörnvall, 1986). The effect of small size immunoglobulins of camel milk on  $\beta$ cell (Agrawal et al., 2007a, 2007b) and the lack of coagulation of camel milk in the human stomach (Agrawal et al., 2003) have also contributed to the hypoglycaemic effect.

#### 6.4. Antimicrobial effect

Camel milk was reported to have an antimicrobial effect against Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria, including *Escherichia coli, Listeria monocytogenes, Staphylococcus aureus* and *Salmonella typhimurium* (Benkerroum, Mekkaoui, Bennani, & Kamal, 2004; El-Agamy et al., 1992). This inhibitory activity was attributed to the presence of antimicrobial substances in camel milk, including lysozyme, hydrogen peroxide, lactoferrin, lactoperoxidase and immunoglobulins (El-Agamy et al., 1992). The inhibitory action of camel milk against *L. monocytogenes, S. aureus* and *E. coli* might be attributed to the presence of lactoperoxidase, hydrogen peroxide and lysozyme respectively (Benkerroum et al., 2004). The growth of *Sal. typhimurium* was inhibited by lactoferrin in camel milk through binding iron and making it unavailable for its growth (El-Agamy et al., 1992; Ochoa & Cleary, 2009).

The amounts of lysozyme, lactoferrin and immunoglobulins were found to be greater in Dromedary camel milk than bovine or buffalo milk (Benkerroum, 2008; El-Agamy, 2000; Kappeler et al., 1999; Konuspayeva et al., 2007). This property has been shown to be a disadvantage in yoghurt production. The growth of yoghurt culture in camel milk is delayed due to the presence of lysozyme (Abu-Taraboush, 1996; Jumah, Shaker, & Abu-Jadayil, 2001) which prolongs the gelation process (Jumah et al., 2001). These antimicrobial agents were reported to completely lose their activity in camel milk if heat-treated at 100 °C for 30 min (El-Agamy, 2000).

However, compared with bovine milk, the molecular masses of lactoferrin (79.5 kDa) and lactoperoxidase (78 kDa) were found to be higher in Dromedary camel milk, whereas lysozyme (14.4 kDa) was found to be similar (El-Agamy, Ruppanner, Ismail, Champagne, & Assaf, 1996). The differences in composition and structure of these antimicrobial substances between both animals' milk might partially explain the differences in their inhibitory activity against various Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria (El-Agamy et al., 1996).

#### 6.5. Hypoallergenicity effect

Mothers' milk provides the ideal nutrition for newborn infants during the early stage of life, however, some infants are only partly breast-fed, or not at all. Hence, different alternatives to human milk can be employed, such as soy milk and extensively hydrolyzed milk protein formulae (El-Agamy, 2007). Researchers report that children (10–20%) possessing allergenicity to bovine milk are also not tolerant to soy derivatives (Businco, Bruno, Giampietro, & Cantoni, 1992; El-Agamy et al., 2009; Maldonado, Gil, Narbona, & Molina, 1998; Zeiger, Sampson, & Bock, 1999). Dromedary camel milk was recently suggested as a food alternative to children with allergenicity to bovine milk. Hypoallergenicity of mothers' milk was reported to be due to the high percentage of  $\beta$ -CN, low percentage of  $\alpha_s$ -CN (El-Agamy et al., 2009), deficiency of  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin (Kappeler, 1998) and similarity of the immunoglobulins (Shabo, Barzel, Margoulis, & Yagil, 2005). Bovine milk shows a high incidence of allergenicity in infants because of the high percentage of  $\alpha_s$ -CN (Taylor, 1986) and  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin (El-Agamy, 2007) in milk proteins. El-Agamy et al. (2009) undertook an in vitro study based on human sera prepared from 40 blood samples of children allergic to bovine milk or its products. The authors reported that camel milk could be a new protein source for children allergic to bovine milk. It is expected to cause little hypersensitivity reactions because camel milk protein percentages are similar to that found in human milk (El-Agamy et al., 2009).

## 7. Conclusions

Fresh Dromedary camel milk and their products are a good nutritional source for the people living in the arid and urban areas. The production of camel milk is gradually increasing due to an increased interest by consumers in recent years. Camel milk was found to be different in some aspects from milk of other animal species, such as bovine milk. Variations observed in camel milk composition were attributed to several factors, such as different analytical procedures, geographical locations, seasonal variations, feeding conditions and breed of camel. Various dairy products were reported to be produced successfully from camel milk with some modifications to their production procedure. Some difficulties were reported in producing cheese. Fresh and fermented camel milk were reported to provide particular health benefits to the consumer depending on the bioactive substances in milk. More extensive research is needed to confirm these proposed health benefits. Studies need to be carried out to investigate the fat globule membrane, and protein composition and structure. Further work is also needed on camel milk protein coagulation by acid and chymosin enzyme to solve problems associated with cheesemaking.

## References

- Abdelgadir, W. S., Ahmed, T. K., & Dirar, H. A. (1998). The traditional fermented milk products of the Sudan. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 44, 1–13.
- Abdel-Rahim, A. G. (1987). The chemical composition & nutritional value of camel (*Camelus dromedarius*) and goat (*Capra bircus*) milk. World Review on Animal Production, 23, 9–11.
- Abdoun, K. A., Amin, A. S. A., & Abdelatif, A. M. (2007). Milk composition of Dromedary camels (*Camelus dromedarius*): nutritional effect and correlation to corresponding blood parameters. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*, 10, 2724–2727.
- Abou-Soliman, N. H. (2005). Studies on goat milk proteins: molecular and immunological characterization with respect to human health and nutrition. Ph.D. Thesis, Alexandria University, Egypt.
- Abu-Lehia, I. H. (1987). Composition of camel milk. *Milchwissenschaft*, 42, 368–371. Abu-Lehia, I. H. (1989). Physical and chemical characteristics of camel milk fat and
- its fractions. Food Chemistry, 34, 261–271.
  Abu-Lehia, I. H., Al-Mohiezea, I. S., & El-Behry, M. (1989). Studies on the production of ice cream from camel milk products. Australian Journal of Dairy Technology, 44, 31–34
- Abu-Taraboush, H. M. (1996). Comparison of associative growth and proteolytic activity of yoghurt starters in whole milk from camels and cows. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 79, 366–371.
- Abu-Taraboush, H. M., Al-Dagal, M. M., & Al-Royli, M. A. (1998). Growth, viability, and proteolytic activity of *Bifidobacteria* in whole camel milk. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 81, 354–361.
- Agrawal, R. P., Budania, S., Sharma, P., Gupta, R., & Kochar, D. K. (2007a). Zero prevalence of diabetes in camel milk consuming Raica community of northwest Rajasthan, India. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 76, 290–296.
- Agrawal, R. P., Saran, S., Sharma, P., Gupta, R., Kochar, D. K., & Sahani, M. S. (2007b). Effect of camel milk on residual b-cell function in recent onset type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 77, 494–495.
- Agrawal, R. P., Swami, S. C., Beniwal, R., Kochar, D. K., Sahani, M. S., Tuteja, F. C., et al. (2003). Effect of camel milk on glycemic control, lipid profile and diabetes quality of life in type-1 diabetes: a randomised prospective controlled cross over study. *Indian Journal of Animal Science*, 73, 1105–1110.

- Al-Attas, A. S. (2008). Determination of essential elements in milk and urine of camel and in Nigella sativa seeds. Arabian Journal of Chemistry, 1, 123–129.
- Alhaj, O. A., Kanekanian, A., & Peters, A. (2006). The effect of Bifidbacterium lactis and trypsin on cholesterol *International food and health innovation conference*. Malmö, Sweden: Skåne Food Innovation Network.
- Alhaj, O. A., Kanekanian, A., & Peters, A. (2007). Investigation on whey proteins profile of commercially available milk-based probiotics health drinks using fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC). British Food Journal, 109, 469–480.
- Al-Saleh, A. A. (1996). Heat coagulation of camel milk. Journal of King Saud University, 8, 107–117.
- Al-Saleh, A. A., & Hammad, Y. A. (1992). Buffering capacity of camel milk. Egyptian Journal of Food Science, 20, 85–97.
- AME Info. (2006). Emirates industry for camel milk and products launches Camelicious<sup>®</sup> in UAE. Retrieved from. http://www.ameinfo.com/95152.html.
- Attia, H., Kherouatou, N., & Dhouib, A. (2001). Dromedary milk lactic acid fermentation: microbiological and rheological characteristics. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 26, 263–270.
- Attia, H., Kherouatou, N., Fakhfakh, N., Khorchani, T., & Trigui, N. (2000). Dromedary milk fat: biochemical, microscopic and rheological characteristics. *Journal of Food Lipids*, 7, 95–112.
- Bakheit, S. A., Majid, A. M. A., & Nikhala, A. M. (2008). Camels (*Camelus dromedarius*) under pastoral systems in North Kordofan, Sudan: seasonal and parity effects on milk composition. *Journal of Camelid Sciences*, 1, 32–36.
- Bayoumi, S. (1990). Studies on composition and rennet coagulation of camel milk. Kieler Milchwirtschaft Forschungberichte, 42, 3–8.
- Beg, O. U. (1986). Characterization of camel milk whey proteins. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Karachi, Pakistan.
- Beg, O. U., Bahr-Lindström, H. V., Zaidi, Z. H., & Jörnvall, H. (1985). The primary structure of α-lactalbumin from camel milk. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 147, 233–239.
- Beg, O. U., Bahr-Lindström, H. V., Zaidi, Z. H., & Jörnvall, H. (1986). A camel milk whey protein rich in half cystine. Primary structure, assessment of variations, internal repeat patterns, and relationships with neurophysin and other active polypeptides. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 159, 195–201.
- Benkerroum, N. (2008). Antimicrobial activity of lysozyme with special relevance to milk. African Journal of Biotechnology, 7, 4856–4867.
- Benkerroum, N., Mekkaoui, M., Bennani, N., & Kamal, H. (2004). Antimicrobial activity of camel's milk against pathogenic strains of *Escherichia coli and Listeria* monocytogene. International Journal of Dairy Technology, 57, 39–43.
- Bracco, U., Hidalgo, J., & Bohren, H. (1971). Lipid composition of the fat globule membrane of human and bovine milk. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 55, 165–172.
- Buonopane, G. J., Kilara, A., Smith, J. S., & McCarthy, R. D. (1992). Effect of skim milk supplementation on blood cholesterol concentration, blood pressure, and triglycerides in a free-living human population. *Journal of American College of Nutrition*, 11, 56–67.
- Businco, L., Bruno, G., Giampietro, P. G., & Cantoni, A. (1992). Allergenicity and nutritional adequacy of soy protein formulas. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 121, S21–S28.
- Camelus dromedarius. (2004). Dromedary, Arabian camel. Retrieved from. http:// www.ultimateungulate.com/Artiodactyla/Camelus\_dromedarius.html.
- Cardellino, R., Rosati, A., & Moscom, C. (2004). Current status of genetic resources, recording and production systems in Africa, Asia and America camelids FAO-ICAR seminar on camelids. Sousse, Tunisia: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and International Committee for Animal Recording.
- Combs, G. F., Clark, L. C., & Turnbull, B. W. (1997). Reduction of cancer risk with an oral supplement of selenium. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences*, 10, 227–234.
- Davies, D. T., & Law, A. J. R. (1980). Content and composition of protein in creamy milk in South-West Scotland. *Journal of Dairy Research*, 47, 83–90.
- Dilanyan, S. H. (1959). Utilisation of mares', ewes', camels and yaks' milk in the USSR. Report Int. Comm. Dairying in warm countries. Brussels, Belgium: International Dairy Federation.
- Eigel, W. N., Butler, I. E., Ernstrom, C. A., Farrell, H. M., Harwalikar, V. R., Jenness, R., et al. (1984). Nomenclature of proteins of cow milk. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 67, 1599–1613.
- Eksterend, B., Larsson, M., & Perlmann, C. (1980). Casein micelle size and composition related to the enzymatic coagulation process. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 660, 361–366.
- El-Agamy, E. I. (1983). Studies on camel's milk. M.Sc. Thesis. Alexandria University, Egypt.
- El-Agamy, E. I. (2000). Effect of heat treatment on camel milk proteins with respect to antimicrobial factors: a comparison with cows' and buffalo milk proteins. *Food Chemistry*, 68, 227–232.
- El-Agamy, E. I. (2007). The challenge of cow milk protein allergy. Small Ruminant Research, 68, 64–72.
- El-Agamy, E. I., Abou-Shloue, Z. I., & Abdel-Kader, Y. I. (1998). Gel electrophoresis of proteins, physicochemical characterization and vitamin C content of milk of different species. Alexandria Journal of Agricultural Research, 43, 57–70.
- El-Agamy, E. I., Nawar, M., Shamsia, S. M., Awad, S., & Haenlein, G. F. W. (2009). Are camel milk proteins convenient to the nutrition of cow milk allergic children. *Small Ruminant Research*, 82, 1–6.
- El-Agamy, E. I., Ruppanner, R., Ismail, A., Champagne, C. P., & Assaf, R. (1992). Antibacterial and antiviral activity of camel milk protective proteins. *Journal of Dairy Research*, 59, 169–175.
- El-Agamy, E. I., Ruppanner, R., Ismail, A., Champagne, C. P., & Assaf, R. (1996). Purification and characterization of lactoferrin, lactoperoxidase, lysozyme and immunoglobulins from camel's milk. *International Dairy Journal*, 6, 129–145.

Elamin, F. M., & Wilcox, C. J. (1992). Milk composition of Majaheim camels. Journal of Dairy Science, 75, 3155–3157.

Elayan, A. A., Sulieman, A. E., & Saleh, F. A. (2008). The hypocholesterolemic effect of Gariss and Gariss containing Bifidobacteria in rats fed on a cholesterol-enriched diet. Asian Journal of Biochemistry, 3, 43–47.

- El-Hadi Sulieman, A., Ilayan, A. A., & El Faki, A. E. (2006). Chemical and microbiological quality of Garris, Sudanese fermented camel's milk product. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 41, 321–328.
- Ellouze, S., & Kamoun, M. (1989). Evolution de la composition du lait de dromadaire en function du stade de lactation. Options Méditerranéennes, CIHEAMn, 6, 307–311.
- El-Zeini, H. M. (2006). Microstruture, rheological and geometrical of fat globules of milk from different animal species. *Polish Journal of Food and Nutrition Science*, 15, 147–154.
- El-Zubeir, I. E. M., & Jabreel, M. S. O. (2008). Fresh cheese from camel milk coagulated with Camifloc. International Journal of Dairy Technology, 61, 90–95.
- FAO. (2003). Report on a FAO workshop on camel milk. Retrieved from. http://www. fao.org/ag/againfo/resources/en/publications/agapubs/ChamelleBook.pdf.
- FAO. (2006). The next thing: Camel milk. Retrieved from. www.fao.org/newsroom/ en/news/2006/1000275.
- FAO. (2008). Camel milk. Retrieved from. http://www.fao.org/ag/againfo/themes/en/ dairy/camel.html.
- Farag, S. I., & Kabary, K. M. (1992). Chemical composition and physical properties of camel's milk and milk fat. In *Proceedings of the 5th Egyptian conference on dairy science and technology*. Cairo, Egypt: Egyptian Society of Dairy Sciences.
- Farah, Z. (1986). Effect of heat treatment on whey proteins of camel milk. Milchwissenschaft, 41, 763–765.
- Farah, Z. (1993). Composition and characteristics of camel milk. Journal of Dairy Research, 60, 603–626.
- Farah, Z. (1996) Camel milk properties and products. St. Gallen, Switzerland: SKAT, Swiss Centre for Developments Cooperation in Technology and Management.
- Farah, Z., & Atkins, D. (1992). Heat coagulation of camel milk. Journal of Dairy Research. 59, 229–231.
- Farah, Z., & Bachmann, M. R. (1987). Rennet coagulation properties of camel milk. Milchwissenschaft, 42, 689–692.
- Farah, Z., & Farah-Riesen, M. (1985). Separation and characterization of major components of camel milk casein. *Milchwissenschaft*, 40, 669–671.
- Farah, Z., Mollet, M., Younan, M., & Dahir, R. (2007). Camel dairy in Somalia: limiting factors and development potential. *Livestock Science*, 110, 187–191.
- Farah, Z., Rettenmaier, R., & Atkins, D. (1992). Vitamin content in camel milk. Internet Journal of Vitamin and Nutrition Research, 62, 30–33.
- Farah, Z., & Rüegg, M. W. (1989). The size distribution of casein micelles in camel milk. Food Microstructure, 8, 211–216.

Farah, Z., Streiff, T., & Bachmann, M. R. (1989). Manufacture and characterization of camel milk butter. *Milchwissenschaft*, 44, 412–414.

- Farah, Z., Streiff, T., & Bachmann, M. R. (1990). Preparation and consumer acceptability tests of fermented camel milk in Kenya. *Journal of Dairy Research*, 57, 281–283.
- Fjaervoll, A. (1970). Anhydrous milk fat fractionation offers new applications for milk fat. Dairy Industry, 35, 502–505.
- Gassem, M. A., & Abu-Tarboush, H. M. (2000). Lactic acid production by Lactobacillus delbrueckii ssp. bulgaricus in camel's and cow's wheys. Milchwissenschaft, 55, 374–378.
- Gnan, S. O., & Sherida, A. M. (1986). Composition of Libyan camel's milk. Australian Journal of Dairy Technology, 3, 33–35.
- Gorban, A. M. S., & Izzeldin, O. M. (1999). Study on cholesteryl ester fatty acids in camel and cow milk lipid. International Journal of Food Science and Technology, 34, 229–234.
- Guliye, A. Y., Yagil, R., & DeB Hovell, F. D. (2000). Milk composition of Bedouin camel under semi-nomadic production system. *Journal of Camel Practice and Research*, 7, 209–212.
- Haddadin, M. S. Y., Gammoh, S. I., & Robinson, R. K. (2008). Seasonal variations in the chemical composition of camel milk in Jordan. *Journal of Dairy Research*, 75, 8–12.
- Hambræus, L. (1992). Nutritional aspects of milk proteins. In P. F. Fox (Ed.), Advanced dairy chemistry. Proteins, Vol. 1 (2nd ed.) (pp. 57–490). London, UK: Elsevier Applied Science.
- Hashim, I. B., Khalil, A. H., & Habib, H. (2008). Quality and acceptability of a setyoghurt made from camel milk. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 92, 857–862.
- Hassan, A. A., Hagrass, A. E., Soryal, K. A., & El-Shabrawy, S. A. (1987). Physicochemical properties of camel milk during lactation period in Egypt. *Journal of Food Sciences*, 15, 1–14.
- Hjort af Ornas, B. (1988). Sustainable subsistence in arid lands: the case of camel rearing. In B. Hjort af Ornas (Ed.), Camels in development. Uppsala, Sweden: SIAS.
- Inayat, S., Arain, M. A., Khaskheli, M., & Malik, A. H. (2003). Study of the effect of processing on the chemical quality of soft unripened cheese made from camel milk. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 2, 102–105.
- Indra, R. (2003). Temet (Bactrian camel from Mongolia). Oulaan-Bator, Mongolia: MongolianState University of Agriculture.
- Jang, A., & Lee, M. (2005). Purification and identification of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitory peptides from beef hydrolysates. *Meat Science*, 69, 653–661.
- Jardali, Z. (1988). Contribution à l'étude de la composition du lait de dromadaire. Mémoire de DEA. Vandoeuvre-les-Nancy, France: Institut National Polytechnique. p. 88.
- Jasra, A. W., & Aujla, K. M. (1998). Socioeconomic profile of camel herders in southwestern mountainous areas of Pakistan. *Camel Newsletter*, *15*, 14–17.

- Jumah, R. Y., Shaker, R. R., & Abu-Jadayil, B. (2001). Effect of milk source on the rheological properties of yoghurt during the gelation process. *International Journal of Dairy Technology*, 54, 89–93.
- Kamal, A. M., Salama, O. A., & El-Saied, K. M. (2007). Changes in amino acid profile of camel milk protein during the early lactation. *International Dairy Journal*, 2, 226–234.
- Kappeler, S. (1998). Compositional and structural analysis of camel milk proteins with emphasis on protective proteins. Ph.D. Thesis, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology, Zürich, Switzerland.
- Kappeler, S., Farah, Z., & Puhan, Z. (1998). Sequence analysis of Camelus dromedarius milk caseins. Journal of Dairy Research, 65, 209–222.Kappeler, S., Farah, Z., & Puhan, Z. (1999). Alternative splicing of lactophorin mRNA
- Kappeler, S., Farah, Z., & Puhan, Z. (1999). Alternative splicing of lactophorin mRNA from lactating mammary gland of the camel (*Camelus dromedarius*). Journal of Dairy Science, 82, 2084–2093.
- Kappeler, S., Farah, Z., & Puhan, Z. (2003). 5'-Flanking regions of camel milk genes are highly similar to homologue regions of other species and can be divided into two distinct groups. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 86, 498–508.
- Kappeler, S. R., Heuberger, C., Farah, Z., & Puhan, Z. (2004). Expression of the peptidoglycan recognition protein, PGRP, in the lactating mammary gland. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 87, 2660–2668.
- Karue, C. N. (1998). The dairy characteristics of the Kenyan camel. In P. Bonnet (Ed.), Actes du colloque, Dromadaires et chameaux, animaux laitiers/Dromedaries and camels, milking animals (pp. 55–60). Nouakchott, Mauritania: CIRAD Publishing.
- Khan, J. A., Kumar, P., Paramasivam, M., Yadav, R. S., Sahani, M. S., Sharma, S., et al. (2001). Camel lactoferrin – a transferrincum – lactoferrin: crystal structure of camel apolactoferrin at 2.6 Å resolution and structural basis of its dual role. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 309, 751–761.
- Khan, M. K. U., & Appanna, T. C. (1967). Carotene and vitamin A in camel milk. Indian Journal of Nutrition and Dietetics, 4, 17.
- Khaskheli, M., Arain, M. A., Chaudhry, S., Soomro, A. H., & Qureshi, T. A. (2005). Physico-chemical quality of camel milk. *Journal of Agriculture and Social Sciences*, 2, 164–166.
- Kheraskov, S. G. (1953). Camels' milk and its products. Konevodstro, 23, 35-37.
- Kherouatou, N., Nasri, M., & Attia, H. (2003). A study of the dromedary milk casein micollo and its changes during acidification. *Brazilian Journal of Food Technology*, 6, 237–244.
- Knoess, K. H., Makjdun, A. J., Rafig, M., & Hafeez, M. (1986). Milk production potential of the dromedary with special reference to the province of Punjab. *World Animal Review*, 57, 11–21.
- Konuspayeva, G., Faye, B., & Loiseau, G. (2009). The composition of camel milk: a meta-analysis of the literature data. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 22, 95–101.
- Konuspayeva, G., Faye, B., Loiseau, G., & Levieux, D. (2007). Lactoferrin and immunoglobulin contents in camel's milk (*Camelus bactrianus, Camelus dromedarius*, and hybrids) from Kazakhstan. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 90, 38–46.
- Konuspayeva, G., Lemarie, E., Faye, B., Loiseau, G., & Montet, D. (2008). Fatty acid and cholesterol composition of camel's (*Camelus bactrianus, Camelus dromedarius* and hybrids) milk in Kazakhstan. Dairy Science and Technology, 88, 327–340.
- Kouniba, A., Berrada, M., Zahar, M., & Bengoumi, M. (2005). Composition and heat stability of Moroccan camel milk. *Journal of Camel Practice and Research*, 12, 105–110.
- Kowalchyk, A. W., & Olson, N. F. (1977). Effects of pH and temperature on the secondary phase of milk clotting by rennet. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 60, 1256–1259.
- Lakosa, I. I., & Shokin, A. (1964). Milk production. Kolov, Moscow: Camel Science Technical Agricultural Publication. pp. 113–120.
- Laleye, L. C., Jobe, B., & Wasesa, A. A. H. (2008). Comparative study on heat stability and functionality of camel and bovine whey proteins. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 91, 4527–4534.
- Larsson-Raznikiewicz, M., & Mohamed, M. A. (1986). Why difficult to make cheese from camel milk. In Proceedings of the 22nd International dairy Congress, the Hague. Dordrecht, Netherlands: D. Reidel Publishing Company. p. 113.
- Li, G. H., Le, G. W., Shi, Y. H., & Shrestha, S. (2004). Angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitory peptides derived from food proteins and their physiological and pharmacological effects. *Nutrition Research*, 24, 469–486.
- Li, H., & Papadopoulos, V. (1998). Peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor function in cholesterol transport. Identification of a putative cholesterol recognition/ interaction amino acid sequence and consensus pattern. *Endocrinology*, 139, 4991–4997.
- López-Fandiño, R., Otte, J., & Van Camp, J. (2006). Review: physiological, chemical and technological aspects of milk-protein-derived peptides with antihypertensive and ACE-inhibitory activity. *International Dairy Journal*, 16, 1277– 1293.
- Magjeed, N. A. (2005). Corrective effect of milk camel on some cancer biomarkers in blood of rats intoxicated with aflatoxin B1. *Journal of the Saudi Chemical Society*, 9, 253–263.
- Maldonado, J., Gil, A., Narbona, E., & Molina, J. A. (1998). Special formulas in infant nutrition: a review. *Early Human Development*, 53, S23–S32.
- Mazurier, J., & Spik, G. (1980). Comparative study of the iron binding properties of human transferrins. I. Complete and sequential iron saturation and desaturation of the lactotransferrin. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 629, 399–408.
- Mehaia, M. A. (1993). Fresh soft white cheese (Domiati-Type) from camel milk: composition, yield, and sensory evaluation. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 76, 2845–2855.

- Mehaia, M. A. (1996). Chemical composition of camel skim milk concentrated by ultrafiltration. International Dairy Journal, 6, 141–152.
- Mehaia, M. A. (1998). Soft cheeses from dromedary camel's milk. In P. Bonnet (Ed.), Actes du colloque, Dromadaires et chameaux, animaux laitiers/Dromedaries and camels, milking animals (pp. 197–204). Nouakchott, Mauritania: CIRAD Publishing.
- Mehaia, M. A. (2006). Manufacture of fresh soft white cheese (Domiati-type) from dromedary camels milk using ultrafiltration process. *Journal of Food Technology*, 4, 206–212.
- Mehaia, M. A., Abou EL-Kheir, A. M., & Hablas, M. A. (1988). Enzymatic coagulation of camel milk. A study using soluble and immobilized chymosin. *Milchwissen-schaft*. 43, 438–441.
- Mehaia, M. A., & Al-Kanhal, M. A. (1989). Studies on camel and goat milk proteins: nitrogen distribution and amino acid composition. *Nutrition Reports International*, 39, 351–356.
- Mehaia, M. A., & Cheryan, M. (1983). The secondary phase of milk coagulation. Effect of calcium, pH and temperature on clotting activity. *Milchwissenschaft*, 38, 137–140.
- Mehaia, M. A., Hablas, M. A., Abdel-Rahman, K. M., & El-Mougy, S. A. (1995). Milk composition of Majaheim, Wadah and Hamra camels in Saudi Arabia. Food Chemistry, 52, 115–122.
- Merin, U., Bernstein, S., Bloch-Damti, A., Yagil, R., van Creveld, C., Lindner, P., et al. (2001). A comparative study of milk serum proteins in camel (*Camelus drom-edarius*) and bovine colostrums. *Livestock Production Science*. 67, 297–301.
- Metwalli, A. A. M., Ibrahim, F. S., & Hassanein, K. A. (2000). Heat coagulation of camel milk. In *Proceedings of the ADSA*. Baltimore, MD, USA: American Dairy Science Association.
- Miller, D. D. (1996). Minerals. In O. R. Fennema (Ed.), Food chemistry (3rd ed.). New York, NY, USA: Marcel Dekker Inc.
- Minervini, F., Algaron, F., Rizzello, C. G., Fox, P. F., Monnet, V., & Gobbetti, M. (2003). Angiotensin I-converting-enzyme inhibitory and antibacterial peptides from *Lactobacillus helveticus* PR4 proteinase hydrolyzed caseins of milk from six species. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 69, 5297–5305.
- Mohamed, A. (1993). Characterization of camel milk β-casein. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Karachi, Pakistan.
- Mohamed, M. A., & Larsson-Raznikiewicz, M. (1990). Hard cheese from camel milk. Milchwissenschaft, 45, 716–718.
- Mukasa-Mugerwa, E. (1981). *The camel* (Camelus dromedarius): A bibliographical review. Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: International Livestock Centre for Africa. Ilca Monograph.
- Northern Territory Government. (2007). Feral animals of the Northern territory. Retrieved from. http://www.nt.gov.au/nreta/wildlife/animals/feral/camel.html. Ochoa, T. J., & Cleary, T. G. (2009). Effect of lactoferrin on enteric pathogens. Bio-
- chimie, 91, 30–34. Ohri, S. P., & Joshi, B. K. (1961). Composition of camel milk. Indian Veterinary Journal,
- 38, 514–516. Omer, R. H., & Eltinay, A. H. (2009). Changes in chemical composition of camel's raw
- milk during storage. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition, 8, 607–610.
- Pan, D., Luo, Y., & Tanokura, M. (2005). Antihypertensive peptides from skimmed milk hydrolysate digested by cell-free extract of *Lactobacillus helveticus* JCM1004. Food Chemistry, 91, 123–129.
- Pereira, D. I. A., & Gibson, G. R. (2002). Effects of consumption of probiotics and prebiotics on serum lipid levels in humans. *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 37, 259–281.
- Quan, S., Tsuda, H., & Miyamoto, T. (2008). Angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitory peptides in skim milk fermented with Lactobacillus helveticus 130B4 from camel milk in Inner Mongolia, China. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 88, 2688–2692.
- Ramdaoui, A., & Obad, I. (1998). Caractérisation physico-chimique et microbiologique du lait de dromadaire, et étude de sa stabilité thermique. Mémoire de 3cycle pré senté pour obtenir le grade d'Ingé nieur d'Etat en Industries Agricoles et alimentaires. Nancy, France: ENSAIA.
- Ramet, J. P. (1989). Use of bovine calf rennet to coagulation raw camel milk. World Animal Review, 61, 11–17.
- Ramet, J. P. (2001). The technology of making cheese from camel milk (Camelus dromedary). Animal Production and Health Paper. No. 113. Rome, Italy: F.A.O.
- Rao, D. R., Chawan, C. B., & Pulusani, S. R. (1981). Influence of milk and thermophilus milk on plasma cholesterol levels and hepatic cholesterogenesis in rates. *Journal* of Food Science, 46, 1339–1341.
- Rao, M. B., Gupta, R. C., & Dastur, N. N. (1970). Camel milk and milk products. Indian Journal of Dairy Science, 23, 71–78.
- Reddy, B. S., Mastromarini, A., & Wynder, E. (1977). Diet and metabolism: large bowel cancer. Cancer, 39, 1815–1819.
- Rüegg, M. W., & Farah, Z. (1991). Melting curves of camel milk fat. *Milchwissenschaft*, 46, 361–362.
- Sahani, M. S., Agrawal, R. P., Tuteja, F. C., Ghorui, S. K., Aminudeen Singh, R., & Sena, D. (2005). Hypoglycemic activity of camel milk in straptozotocin induced hyperglycemia in rats. *Indian Journal of Animal Science*, 75, 1436–1437.
- Salami, M., Yousefi, R., Ehsani, M. R., Dalgalarrondo, M., Chobert, J.-M., Haertle, T., et al. (2008). Kinetic characterization of hydrolysis of camel and bovine milk proteins by pancreatic enzymes. *International Dairy Journal*, 18, 1097–1102.

- Salami, M., Yousefi, R., Ehsani, M. R., Razavi, S. H., Chobert, J.-M., Haertle, T., et al. (2009). Enzymatic digestion and antioxidant activity of the native and molten globule states of camel a-lactalbumin: possible significance for use in infant formula. *International Dairy Journal*, 19, 518–523.
- Sawaya, W. N., Khalil, J. K., Al-Shalhat, A., & Al-Mohammad, H. (1984). Chemical composition and nutritional quality of camel milk. *Journal of Food Science*, 49, 744–747.
- Seelig, A., & Seelig, J. (1996). Interaction of drugs and peptides with the lipid membrane. In T. Schwartz, S. A. Hijorth, & J. Sandolm Kastrup (Eds.), *Alfred Benzon Symposium 39: Structure and function of 7Tm receptors* (pp. 184–193). Copenhagen: Muntsgaard.
- Shabo, Y., Barzel, R., Margoulis, M., & Yagil, R. (2005). Camel milk for food allergies in children. *Immunology and Allergies*, 7, 796–798.
- Shah, N. P. (2000). Effects of milk-derived bioactives: an overview. British Journal of Nutrition, 84(Suppl. 1), S3–S10.
- Shalash, M. R. (1979). Utilization of camel meat and milk in human nourishment. Provisional Report No. 6 Workshop on camels, Khartoum, Sudan. Stockholm, Sweden: International Foundation of Science. 285–306.
- Shalash, M. R. (1984). The production and utilization of camel milk. In W. R. Cockrill (Ed.), *The Camelid: An all-purpose animal* (pp. 196–208). Uppsala, Sweden: Scandinavian Institute of African Studies.
- Shuiep, E. S., El Zubeir, I. E. M., El Owni, O. A. O., & Musa, H. H. (2008). Influence of season and management on composition of raw camel (*Camelus dromedarius*) milk in Khartoum state, Sudan. *Tropical and Subtropical Agroecosystems*, 8, 101–106.
- Siboukeur, O., Mati, A., & Hessas, B. (2005). Improving the coagulability of camel's milk's by using gastric enzyme coagulation extracts (*Camelus dromedarius*). *Cahiers Agricultures*, 14, 473–478.
- Singh, M. B., Fotedar, R., & Lakshminarayana, J. (2008). Camel milk consumption pattern and its association with diabetes among Raika community of Jodhpur district of Rajasthan. *Ethno-Med*, 2, 104–105.
- Smith, C. G., & Vane, J. R. (2003). The discovery of Captopril. FASEB Journal, 17, 788–789.
- Stahl, T., Sallmann, H. P., Duehlmeier, R., & Wernery, U. (2006). Selected vitamins and fatty acid patterns in dromedary milk and colostrums. *Journal of Camel Practice and Research*, 13, 53–57.
- Taha, N. M., & Keilwein, G. (1989). Studies on the nitrogen distribution and content of peptide bounds and free amino acids in camel milk, buffalo and ass milk. *Milchwissenschaft*, 44, 633–636.
- Tahri, K., Crociani, J., Ballongue, J., & Schneider, F. (1995). Effects of three strains of bifidobacteria on cholesterol. *Letters in Applied Microbiology*, 21, 149–151.
- Taylor, S. L. (1986). Immunological and allergic properties of cows' milk proteins in humans. *Journal of Food Protection*, 49, 239–250.
- USDA. (2009). United States Department of Agriculture, National Agricultural library dietary reference intakes: Elements. Retrieved from. http://www.nal.usda.gov/.
- Wangoh, J., Farah, Z., & Puhan, Z. (1993). Extraction of camel rennet and its comparison with calf rennet extract. *Milchwissenschaft*, 48, 322–325.
- Wangoh, J., Farah, Z., & Puhan, Z. (1998). Composition of milk from three camel (*Camelus dromedarius*) breeds in Kenya during lactation. *Milchwissenschaft*, 53, 136–139.
- Webb, B. H., Johnson, R. H., & Alford, J. A. (1974). Fundamentals of dairy chemistry. Westport, CT, USA: AVI Publishing Co.
- Wernery, U. (2006). Camel milk, the white gold of the desert. Journal of Camel Practice and Research, 13, 15–26.
- Wernery, U. (2008). Camel milk-new observations. In Conference proceedings: International Camel conference. Recent trends in camel research and future strategies for saving camels (pp. 200–204). India: Bikaner.
- Wilson, R. T. (1998). Camels. London, UK: MacMillan Educational Press Ltd. pp. 120–124, CTA series.
- Yagil, R. (1982). Camels and camel milk Animal production and health report. Rome, Italy: FAO.
- Yagil, R., & Etzion, Z. (1980). Effect of drought condition on the quality of camel milk. Journal of Dairy Research, 47, 159–166.
- Yagil, R., Saran, A., & Etzion, Z. (1984). Camels milk: for drinking only? Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, 78A, 263–266.
- Yamamoto, N., Akino, A., & Takano, T. (1994). Antihypertensive effect of the peptides derived from casein by an extracellular proteinase from *Lactobacillus helveticus* CP790. Journal of Dairy Science, 77, 917–922.
- Yaqoob, M., & Nawaz, H. (2007). Potential of Pakistani camel for dairy and other uses – review article. Animal Science Journal, 78, 467–475.
- Zeiger, R. S., Sampson, H. A., & Bock, S. A. (1999). Soy allergy in infants and children with IgE-associated cow's milk allergy. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 134, 614–622.
- Zhao, X. X. (1998). Milk production of Chinese Bactrian camel (Camelus bactrianus). In P. Bonnet (Ed.), Actes du colloque, Dromadaires et chameaux, animaux laitiers/ Dromedaries and camels, milking animals (pp. 101–105). Nouakchott, Mauritania: CIRAD Publishing.
- Zia-Ur-Rahman, & Straten, M. V. (1998). Milk production and composition in lactating camels injected with recombined bovine somatotropin. In P. Bonnet (Ed.), Actes du colloque, Dromadaires et chameaux, animaux laitiers/Dromedaries and camels, milking animals (pp. 159–161). Nouakchott, Mauritania: CIRAD Publishing.